

Attachment A

Chapter 29

IMPACT FEES*

- 29-1. Title. +1
- 29-2. Legislative intent and purpose. +1
- 29-3. Definitions. +1
- 29-4. Applicability. +1
- 29-5. Authority for assessment of impact fees. +1
- 29-6. Administration of the impact fee program. +1
- 29-7. Impact fee ordinance. +1
- 29-8. Infrastructure financing plan. +1
- 29-9. Adoption or amendment of the infrastructure financing plan. +1
- 29-10. Required update of the infrastructure financing plan. +1
- 29-11. Assessment and collection of impact fees. +1
- 29-12. Impact fee credits and credit agreements. +1
- 29-13. Development agreements. +1
- 29-14. Appeals. +1
- 29-15. Refunds of impact fees. +1
- 29-16. Oversight of impact fee program. +1
- Appx. A. Impact fee schedules. +1

***Editor's note**—Ord. No. G-5984, § 1, adopted January 21, 2015, effective February 20, 2015, repealed Ch. 29 in its entirety. Section 2 (Exh. A) of said Ordinance added a new Ch. 29 to read as herein set out. Former Ch. 29 pertained to similar subject matter and derived from Ord. No. G-5660, § 1, adopted October 19, 2011, effective November 18, 2011, and Ord. No. G-5666, adopted November 30, 2011, effective December 30, 2011.

Cross reference—Building regulations, Ch. 9; sewer residential development occupational fee, Ch. 19A; sewer commercial and industrial development occupational fee, Ch. 19B; water residential development

occupational fee, Ch. 19C; water commercial and industrial development occupational fee, Ch. 19D; water resources acquisition fee, Ch. 30; subdivisions, Ch. 32.

State law reference—Development fees, A.R.S. § 9-463.05.

29-1 Title. +1

This chapter shall be known as the "Impact Fee Ordinance for the City of Phoenix, Arizona."

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-1

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-2 Legislative intent and purpose. +1

This chapter is adopted for the purpose of promoting the health, safety and general welfare of the residents of the City by:

- A. Requiring new development to pay its proportionate share of the costs to the municipality associated with providing necessary public services to a development;
- B. Setting forth standards and procedures for creating and assessing impact fees consistent with the requirements of Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes ("A.R.S.");
- C. Setting forth procedures for administering the impact fee program, including offsets, credits, and refunds of impact fees. All impact fee assessments, offsets, credits, or refunds must be administered in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-2

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-3 Definitions. +1

The following terms when used in this chapter shall have the following meanings unless the context requires otherwise. Singular terms shall include their plural.

Administrative charge: A nonrefundable fee for the administration of the impact fee program charged at the time a building permit or service connection is obtained.

Appurtenance: Any fixed machinery or equipment, structure, or other fixture associated with a capital facility that is necessary for the operation, use, or maintenance of a capital facility.

Capital facility: An asset having a useful life of three or more years that is a component of one or more of the categories of necessary public services provided by the City. A capital facility may include any associated purchase of real property, architectural and engineering services leading to the design and construction of buildings and facilities, improvements to existing facilities, improvements to or expansions of existing facilities, and associated financing and professional services. Wherever used herein, "infrastructure" shall have the same meaning as "capital facilities."

Charter school: A school authorized under Title 15, Chapter 1, Article 8, Arizona Revised Statutes. **FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETERMINING IMPACT FEE CHARGES, A CHARTER SCHOOL QUALIFIES FOR THE SCHOOL FACILITIES EXEMPTION UNDER SUBSECTION 29-4 (B).**

City: The City of Phoenix, Arizona.

Commercial/retail: A land use category that includes general retail, retail centers, specialty retail, discount stores, car sales, supermarkets, convenience markets, service stations, banks and savings and loans, motion picture theaters, and other commercial uses not elsewhere classified in other land use categories in this chapter. Lodging shall be considered a commercial/retail land use except for the purpose of determining the major arterials impact fee as provided in Appendix A of this chapter, Schedule E. *2

COMMUNITY RESIDENCE HOME: FOR THE PURPOSE OF THIS ARTICLE, “COMMUNITY RESIDENCE HOME” HAS THE SAME MEANING AS “COMMUNITY RESIDENCE HOME” AS DEFINED IN SECTION 202 OF THE CITY OF PHOENIX ZONING ORDINANCE.

Credit: A reduction in an assessed impact fee resulting from developer contributions to, payments for, construction of, or dedications for capital facilities included in an infrastructure financing plan, (or as otherwise permitted **UNDER SUBSECTION 29-12** ~~by this chapter~~).

Credit agreement, ~~final~~: A written agreement between the City and the developer(s) of a subject development which determines the total value of credits to be issued to a subject development. ~~A development agreement may substitute for a final credit agreement.~~

Credit agreement, ~~preliminary~~: ~~A written agreement between the City and the developer(s) of a subject development which only allocates estimated values of impact fee credits to a development; credits are not permitted to be issued with only a preliminary credit agreement. A development agreement may substitute for a preliminary credit agreement.~~

Credit allocation: A term used to describe when impact fee credits are distributed to a subject development after execution of a ~~preliminary~~ credit agreement, but not yet issued with a permit associated with the subject development.

Credit issuance: A term used to describe when the amount an impact fee assessed on a permit associated with a subject development is reduced by credits allocated to the same subject development.

Day care center: A public/institutional land use that is a facility for the daily care of dependent populations including infants, preschool and young children as well as elderly persons, typically taking place during daylight hours, although they may also offer care at other hours of the day. Such facilities may include classrooms, offices, eating and sleeping areas, and playgrounds or outdoor recreation areas.

Developer: An individual, group of individuals, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, association, municipal corporation, State agency, or other person or entity undertaking land development activity, or their respective successors and assigns.

Development agreement: An agreement prepared in accordance with Section 9-500.05, Arizona Revised Statutes, which may include provisions regarding impact fee credits for a development and/or reimbursement to a developer for providing capital facilities included in the infrastructure financing plan.

Development occupational fee (DOF): A fee charged by the City of Phoenix at the time water and/or wastewater service is requested, pursuant to the provisions of Ordinances G-2664, G-2665, G-2666, and G-2667, as amended. A "development occupational fee" is not an "impact fee."

Drainage fixture unit (DFU): ~~A drainage fixture unit shall be as defined in the adopted 2012 Uniform Plumbing Code, Table 702.1, or as defined in any successor code subsequently adopted by the City.~~

Dwelling unit: A house, apartment, mobile home or trailer, group of rooms, or single room occupied as separate living quarters or, if vacant, intended for occupancy as separate living quarters.

EDU (equivalent demand unit): A standardized measure of the demand that a particular land use type places on each category of necessary public service, in relation to the demand placed on the same necessary public service by a detached single-family dwelling unit. An EDU shall be a "service unit" for purposes of Section 9-463.05(T)(10), Arizona Revised Statutes.

EDU factor: A ratio determined by dividing an indicator of the use type demand by an indicator of the detached single-family dwelling unit demand. The EDU factor for a single-family dwelling unit is one.

Equipment: Machinery, computers, communication systems, tools, materials, and other supplies, but not including vehicles, that are needed by a capital facility to effectively provide the level of service specified by the infrastructure financing plan.

Financing or debt: Any debt, bond, note, loan, fund transfer or other obligation utilized to finance the construction or expansion of a capital facility identified in the infrastructure financing plan.

Fire protection: A necessary public service that includes fire stations, fire equipment, fire vehicles and all appurtenances for fire stations. Fire protection does not include vehicles and equipment used to provide administrative services, or helicopters or airplanes. Fire protection does not include any facility that is used for training firefighters from more than one station or substation.

General Plan: The General Plan for the City of Phoenix, Arizona, as may be adopted or amended.

Gross impact fee: The total impact fee to be assessed against a subject development, prior to subtraction of any offsets. The gross impact fee is calculated by multiplying the gross impact fee per EDU (for each category of necessary public service) by the applicable number of EDUs within the subject development.

Gross impact fee per EDU: The total future capital costs listed in the infrastructure financing plan for a category of necessary public service divided by the total new EDUs projected in that area for that category of necessary public service over the same time period.

Hospital: A public/institutional land use that is an institution for the diagnosis, care or treatment of two or more unrelated persons suffering from illness, injury, or deformity or for the rendering of obstetrical or other professional care, other than in an emergency, where overnight accommodations are provided. The term "hospital" shall not be construed to include the office of a physician or practitioner.

Impact fee: A fee charged pursuant to Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes. Wherever used herein, "impact fee" shall have the same meaning as "development fee" as used in Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes.

IMPACT FEE AREA: AN AREA SPECIFIED IN THE APPROVED IFP WITHIN WHICH DEVELOPMENT WILL BE SERVED BY CAPITAL FACILITIES AT A PLANNED LEVEL OF SERVICE AND WITHIN WHICH A SUBSTANTIAL NEXUS (OR DIRECT BENEFIT, AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 9-463.05, ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES) EXISTS BETWEEN THE CAPITAL FACILITIES AND THE DEVELOPMENT BEING SERVED AS PRESCRIBED IN THE APPLICABLE INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN. SOME OR ALL OF THE CAPITAL FACILITIES PROVIDING SERVICE TO AN IMPACT FEE AREA MAY BE PHYSICALLY LOCATED OUTSIDE OF THAT AREA.

Impact fee study: The written report developed pursuant to Section 29-8 that meets requirements as set forth in Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes.

Industrial/warehouse: A land use category which may include one or more of the following: manufacturing, fabrication, processing, assembly, storage and distribution of raw materials and goods, including agricultural products and may also include office and maintenance areas. Only office areas that are accessory to an industrial/warehouse use shall be considered industrial/warehouse for the purpose of assessing impact fees. Mini warehouse shall be considered an industrial/warehouse land use except for the purpose of determining the major arterials impact fee as provided in Appendix A of this chapter, Schedule E. *2

Infrastructure financing plan (IFP): A single, coordinating document developed pursuant to Section 29-8 consisting of the land use assumptions, infrastructure improvements plans, and impact fee studies, plus other supporting documentation, required for each category of necessary public service for which an impact fee is charged.

Infrastructure improvements plan: A document or series of documents that meet the requirements set forth in Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes, that are adopted pursuant to Section 29-8 to cover any category or combination of categories of necessary public services.

Land use assumptions: Projections of changes in land uses, densities, intensities and population for a service area over a period of at least ten years as specified in Section 29-8, upon which an infrastructure improvements plan is based.

Level of service (LOS): A quantitative and/or qualitative measure of a category of necessary public service. LOS may be measured differently for each category of necessary public service, as identified in the applicable infrastructure improvements plan.

Libraries: A necessary public service which includes capital facilities within which literary, musical, artistic, or reference materials are kept (materials may be kept in any form of media such as electronic, magnetic, or paper) for non-commercial use by the public.

Lodging: A land use that includes facilities designed for occupancy by transients or as a residence for periods of less than one year, including hotels, motels, time-shares and resorts. A facility approved under a separate building permit that is associated with, or accessory to, a lodging facility, and intended for use by lodging facility occupants and nonoccupants such as a restaurant, bar, retail shop, day spa, entertainment place, and conference or convention center shall be considered a separate land use for the purposes of this chapter. *2

Major arterials: A necessary public service encompassing roadway improvements included in the approved infrastructure financing plan and associated with public street projects on major arterial streets, as defined on the City's adopted Street Classification Map. This necessary public service was formerly known as "roadway facilities."

Mini warehouse: A land use predominated by facilities in which a storage unit or vault is rented for the storage of nonperishable goods. Each storage unit is physically separated and access is restricted. +2

Necessary public service: "Necessary public service" shall have the meaning prescribed in Section 9-463.05(T)(5), Arizona Revised Statutes.

Net impact fee: The gross impact fee minus any applicable offsets.

Nursing home: A public/institutional land use that is a health care institution which is licensed by the Arizona State Department of Health Services as a skilled nursing facility for two or more unrelated persons.

Office: A land use category that includes general office and medical-dental office buildings. A general office building houses multiple tenants; it is a location where affairs of businesses, commercial or industrial organizations, or professional persons or firms are conducted. A medical-dental office is a facility that provides diagnoses and outpatient care on a routine basis

but is unable to provide prolonged in-house medical or surgical care. An office building may contain a mixture of tenants, and accessory tenant services such as a bank or savings and loan, a restaurant or cafeteria, and service retail facilities.

Offset: An amount which is subtracted from the overall costs of providing necessary public services to account for those capital components of existing infrastructure or associated debt that have been or will be paid for by a development through taxes, fees (except for impact fees), and other revenue sources, as determined by the City pursuant to Section 29-8.

PARADISE RIDGE IMPACT FEE AREA: PARCELS OF LAND LOCATED IN THE VICINITY OF STATE ROUTE 101 AND 64TH STREET. THE BOUNDARIES OF THE PARADISE RIDGE IMPACT FEE AREA ARE DELINEATED BY THE RAWHIDE WASH FLOODPLAIN.

Parking structure: A multi-level structure built for the purpose of parking vehicles.

Parks: A necessary public service including but not limited to public parks, swimming pools and related capital facilities and equipment located on real property not larger than 30 acres in area, as well as public parks larger than 30 acres where facilities provide a direct benefit. Parks may contain, provide access to, or otherwise support an excluded park facility.

Police: A necessary public service, including vehicles and equipment, that is used by law enforcement agencies to preserve the public peace, prevent crime, detect and arrest criminal offenders, protect the rights of persons and property, regulate and control motorized and pedestrian traffic, and other duties as prescribed by law. Police facilities do not include vehicles and equipment used to provide administrative services, or helicopters or airplanes. Police facilities do not include any facility that is used for training officers from more than one station or substation.

Private school: A public/institutional land use that is an institution of learning offering education for children which charges students tuition, including some or all of the grades from kindergarten through twelfth grade. The site may contain athletic, dining, assembly and recreation facilities.

Public school: A public/institutional land use that is an institution of learning offering free education for all children, including some or all of the grades from kindergarten through twelfth grade. The site may contain athletic, dining, assembly and recreation facilities.

Public/institutional: A category of land use that includes **PRIVATE** schools, **COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES**, hospitals, nursing homes, religious facilities, day care centers, and other similar public and quasi-public uses when not elsewhere classified in other land use categories in the fee schedule.

Religious facility: A public/institutional land use that is a facility for public worship services such as a church, synagogue, mosque, or temple which may include an assembly hall, sanctuary, meeting rooms, classrooms, and kitchen. Other uses located on the premises of a religious

facility that operate independently shall not be considered part of the religious facility for the purpose of assessing impact fees.

Residential, multi-family: A category of land use which typically has three or more dwelling units per lot. For the purpose of assessing impact fees, dwelling units which receive water service from a shared public water meter (excluding permitted single-family guesthouses) will be deemed multi-family.

Residential, single-family: A category of land use which typically has one or two dwelling units per lot (not including guesthouses and other permitted accessory structures). For the purpose of assessing impact fees when more than two dwelling units per lot exist (such as for duplexes, triplexes, and developments subdivided by a horizontal property regime), any dwelling unit having a separate public water meter will be deemed single-family.

~~*Service area:* An area specified in the approved IFP within which development will be served by capital facilities at a planned level of service and within which a substantial nexus (or direct benefit, as required by Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes) exists between the capital facilities and the development being served as prescribed in the applicable infrastructure improvements plan. Some or all of the capital facilities providing service to a service area may be physically located outside of that service area.~~

Shade structure: A structure whose primary purpose is to provide shade.

Storm drainage: A necessary public service including but not limited to regional drainage facilities (such as channels and retention/detention basins, plus related equipment) needed to provide sufficient storm water management for areas defined in the infrastructure improvements plan.

Subject development: A land area regulated by the same final site plan, final subdivision plat, planned community district master plans, planned unit development, specific plan, or similar as allowed by the Planning and Development Director.

Substantial nexus: A substantial nexus exists where the demand for **OR BENEFIT DERIVED FROM A** necessary public services ~~created by an EDU~~ can be reasonably quantified in terms of the actual burden **OR BENEFIT** that such EDU will impose **OR RECEIVE** on a given category of necessary public service.

Wastewater: A necessary public service including but not limited to sanitary sewers, lift stations, reclamation plants, wastewater treatment plants, and related equipment and appurtenances.

Water: A necessary public service including but not limited to those facilities necessary to provide for water services to a development, including the supply, transportation, treatment, purification and distribution of water, and any equipment and appurtenances required for those facilities. This category does not include water resource projects as defined in Chapter 30.

Wireless communications facility (WCF): A facility as defined by the same term in the Zoning Ordinance, and a public/institutional land use for the purposes of this chapter.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-3

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

+2 Addition on 6-22-2016 by Ordinance No. G-6180, eff. 7-22-2016

*2 Revision on 6-22-2016 by Ordinance No. G-6180, eff. 7-22-2016

29-4 Applicability. +1

Except as otherwise provided herein, this chapter shall apply to all development within any impact fee ~~service~~-area for the City of Phoenix, as defined in the adopted infrastructure financing plan, subject to the following:

A. City Facilities Exemption. This chapter shall not apply to the development of any City of Phoenix facility.

B. School Facilities Exemption. Per Sections 9-500.18 and 15-189.01, Arizona Revised Statutes, public schools, school districts, and charter schools are exempt from payment of impact fees. **PRIVATE SCHOOL OR SCHOOLS OTHER THAN PUBLIC AND CHARTER SCHOOLS ARE NOT EXEMPTED FROM PAYMENT OF IMPACT FEES.**

C. Water and Wastewater Connections Outside of City Limits. The City will assess water and wastewater impact fees, or a payment in lieu of those fees (equal amount), to developments located outside of the City limits that will be served using existing and future facilities in adjacent impact fee ~~service~~-areas and are within the Phoenix Water Services Department service area. The Director of the Water Services Department will determine which ~~service~~-**IMPACT FEE** area and associated impact fee schedule will be used to determine the amount of the payment due at the time a connection is purchased.

D. Other Applicabilities.

1. Parking Structure. A parking structure that is accessory to other uses on the same site shall not incur additional impact fees, except those associated with any additional required water meters and/or sewer connections. A parking garage that is a primary use on a site shall be assessed impact fees as a commercial/retail use.

2. Shade Structure. A shade structure that is provided as a site amenity and accessory to another use (such as a picnic ramada, patio trellis, or covered parking/loading) shall not be assessed impact fees. A shade structure used for anything other than a site amenity (such as materials storage, outdoor dining, or any commercial or business operation) shall be assessed applicable impact fees based upon the use.

3. Multi-Family Amenity Structures. Structures built as part of a multi-family residential development for use as an on-site resident amenity (such as a meeting room, office, fitness center, pool ramada, or maintenance facility) and are not open for use by non-residents shall not be assessed additional impact fees, except for those associated with additional water or sewer

connections. Off-site amenities, or amenity structures open to non-residents (such as a golf clubhouse, store, or commercial gym/spa) shall be assessed impact fees based upon the use.

4. Wireless Communications Facility (WCF). A WCF shall only be assessed impact fees associated with water or sewer connections, and for any structure intended to be occupied on a regular basis.

5. Existing Single-Family Homes. A single-family home built prior to October 21, 1987, is exempt from payment of water and wastewater impact fees. This provision does not apply to a single-family home located outside of the City limits at the time a water or wastewater connection is provided.

6. COMMUNITY RESIDENCE HOME. A COMMUNITY RESIDENCE HOME WILL BE DEEMED SINGLE-FAMILY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING IMPACT FEES.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-4

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-5 Authority for assessment of impact fees. +1

The City may assess and collect impact fees for costs of necessary public services in accordance with the following:

A. Impact fees shall be assessed against commercial, residential, and industrial developments; provided, that the City may identify additional categories or subcategories of development against which impact fees may be assessed.

B. The City shall analyze and define the impact fees to be charged in each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area for each necessary public service, based on the recommended gross impact fee per EDU calculated pursuant to Section 29-8.

C. No impact fees shall be charged, or credits issued, for any capital facility that does not fall into one of the categories of necessary public service identified in Section 29-8(C)(1).

D. Impact fees may not be used to **UPGRADE, EXPAND, CORRECT OR REPLACE NECESSARY PUBLIC SERVICES TO SERVE EXISTING DEVELOPMENT, OR OTHERWISE** provide a higher level of service to existing development ~~or to facilitate stricter safety, efficiency, environmental, or other regulatory standards for existing capital facilities.~~

E. Impact fees may not be used to pay the City's administrative, maintenance, or other operating costs for the necessary public facilities.

F. Projected interest charges and financing costs can only be included in impact fees to the extent they represent principal and/or interest on the portion of any financing or debt used to finance the construction or expansion of a capital facility identified in the infrastructure improvements plan.

G. Costs for preparation of the infrastructure financing plan (including the infrastructure improvement plan and land use assumptions, plus the impact fee study) or other report or audit required by Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes, may be included in the determination of impact fees.

H. All impact fees charged by the City are provided in the fee schedules, included as Appendix A of this chapter.

I. All impact fees shall meet the requirements of Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-5

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-6 Administration of the impact fee program. +1

A. Separate Accounts. Impact fees collected pursuant to this chapter shall be placed in separate, interest-bearing accounts for each necessary public service for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area.

B. Limitations on Use of Fees. Impact fees and any interest thereon collected pursuant to this chapter shall only be spent on:

1. Capital facilities included in an approved infrastructure improvements plan, including related costs of financing or debt, so long as the capital facilities serve the same ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area, and provide the same necessary public service for which the fee was collected.

2. Other costs authorized by this chapter and included in an approved infrastructure improvements plan.

C. Time Limit. Impact fees shall be spent within ten fiscal years of the date upon which they were collected, or within 15 fiscal years of the date upon which they were collected for water facilities or wastewater facilities.

D. Administrative Charge. There shall be a non-refundable administrative charge equal to one percent of the assessed gross impact fee which shall be due at the time impact fees are paid. The administrative charge is not an impact fee, and cannot be reduced by any credits.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-6

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-7 Impact fee ordinance. +1

This chapter shall provide the framework for adoption and implementation of the impact fee program, as well as provide the adopted fee schedules to be for assessment of impact fees.

A. General Compliance. All impact fees, credits, reimbursements, or similar must be administered in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

B. Interpretations. The Planning and Development Department Director's interpretation of the provisions of this chapter ~~shall be~~ **IS** final, **UNLESS THE DECISION IS APPEALED PURSUANT TO SECTION 29-14.**

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-7

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-8 Infrastructure financing plan. +1

Prior to assessment of a new or modified impact fee, the City shall prepare and adopt an infrastructure financing plan (IFP). The infrastructure financing plan will include the following: land use assumptions (LUA), an infrastructure improvements plan (IIP) for each necessary public service, and an impact fee study.

A. Preparation of Infrastructure Financing Plan (IFP). The Planning and Development Department, and/or other qualified professional(s), shall prepare the infrastructure financing plan in conjunction with each City department responsible for a necessary public service, in accordance with the scheduling procedures outlined herein.

B. Land Use Assumptions (LUA). The IFP shall include the land use assumptions for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area within which impact fees will be charged.

1. Validity. If the land use assumptions have not been updated within the last five years, the City shall evaluate the land use assumptions to determine whether changes are necessary. If, after general evaluation, the City determines that the land use assumptions are still valid, the City shall issue the report required in Section 29-10(B).

2. Required Modifications to Land Use Assumptions. If the City determines that changes to the land use assumptions are necessary in order to adopt or amend an infrastructure improvements plan, it shall make such changes as necessary to the land use assumptions in conjunction with the review and approval of the infrastructure improvements plan pursuant to Section 29-9.

C. Infrastructure Improvements Plan (IIP). The City shall prepare an infrastructure improvements plan for each category of necessary public service for which an impact fee will be charged that evaluates the need for capital facilities for new development.

1. Necessary Public Services. The infrastructure improvements plan shall specify the categories of necessary public services for which the City intends to impose an impact fee, which may include any or all of the following:

- a. Fire protection.
- b. Police.
- c. Parks.

- d. Libraries.
- e. Major arterials.
- f. Storm drainage.
- g. Water.
- h. Wastewater.

2. ~~Service~~**IMPACT FEE** Areas. The IIP shall define and provide a map of all ~~service~~**IMPACT FEE** areas within which a substantial nexus exists for the City to charge impact fees to provide a necessary public service.

3. Direct Benefit. In cases where Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes, requires a direct benefit from a proposed capital facility to the new development it will be serving, the direct benefit shall be evaluated and explained in the infrastructure improvements plan.

4. Existing Level of Service. For each necessary public service to be provided, the IIP shall evaluate and quantify the level of service provided to existing development in each ~~service~~**IMPACT FEE** area.

5. Adopted Level of Service. For each necessary public service to be provided, the IIP shall identify and/or propose a level of service to be provided in each ~~service~~**IMPACT FEE** area, based upon City-wide standards or policies.

6. Existing Capacity. For each necessary public service to be provided, the IIP shall analyze and identify the capacity of existing capital facilities serving each ~~service~~**IMPACT FEE** area, specifically:

- a. The level of utilization by existing development;
- b. Any excess capacity available to serve new development;
- c. Any existing or planned commitments or agreement for the usage of excess, including reservations of capacity reserved through a development agreement;
- d. Any changes or upgrades to existing capital facilities that will be needed to maintain the adopted level of service, or to meet safety, efficiency, environmental, or other regulatory requirements for existing development;
- e. Those portions of existing capital facilities that will be necessary to serve any new development for which impact fees will not be assessed.

7. Future Development. The IIP shall provide the existing number of equivalent demand units (EDUs), together with the projected number of new EDUs, for each ~~service~~**IMPACT FEE** area.

The projected number of new EDUs shall be based upon the City's land use assumptions and projected new development for a period not to exceed ten years (15 years for wastewater and water).

8. EDU Factors. For each necessary public service provided, the IIP shall provide a table of the EDU factors used for each type of development and/or land use.

9. Future Demand. In addition to existing excess capacities already identified for each necessary public service provided, the IIP shall analyze and identify new capital facilities (including expansion of existing facilities) required to provide the adopted level of service to the future development projected for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area in subsection (B)(7) of this section. The future demand shall take into account, and adjust for, any new development for which impact fees will not be assessed. Nothing in this subsection shall prohibit the City from additionally including projected demand for a longer period than described in subsection (B)(7) of this section.

10. Future Costs for Existing Development. If the IIP identifies any changes or upgrades to existing capital facilities that will be needed to maintain the adopted level of service, the associated costs shall be identified in the IIP. Additionally, the IIP shall identify any portion of the costs of new capital facilities which are attributable to existing development.

11. Future Costs for New Development. For each necessary public service provided, the IIP shall estimate the total costs to provide the capital facilities required to meet the demand generated by future development. The cost estimates may include: land acquisition, improvements, engineering and architectural services, studies leading to design, design, construction, and financing, as well as projected costs of inflation. The cost estimates may not include costs for administration or ongoing operation and maintenance of capital facilities, nor costs attributable to attaining or maintaining the existing level of service for existing development. Replacement capital facilities may only be included to the extent that additional capacity is provided to serve new development.

12. Gross Impact Fee per EDU. For each necessary public service provided, the IIP shall calculate a recommended gross impact fee per EDU for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area by dividing the total future costs by the number of new EDUs projected.

13. Alternative Revenues. The IIP shall forecast revenues from taxes, fees, assessments, or other sources that will be available to fund any new or expanded capital facilities identified in the IIP, as follows:

- a. State-shared revenues, Federal revenues, ad valorem property taxes, construction contracting or similar excise taxes and the capital recovery portion of utility fees attributable to development based upon the approved land use assumptions shall be included in the estimations, if applicable.
- b. The IIP shall additionally estimate the time required for financing, construction, and implementation of the new or expanded capital facilities, as appropriate.

c. Beginning August 1, 2014, if the City imposes a construction contracting or similar excise tax rate in excess of the percentage amount of the transaction privilege tax rate that is imposed on the majority of other transaction privilege tax classifications in the City, the entire excess portion of the construction contracting or similar excise tax shall be treated as a contribution to the capital costs of capital facilities provided to new development unless the excess portion is already utilized for such purpose.

14. Community Facilities District. In determining and assessing an impact fee applying to land in a community facilities district established under Title 48, Chapter 4, Article 6, Arizona Revised Statutes, the City shall take into account any capital facilities in the infrastructure improvements plan provided by the CFD and capital costs paid by the district for such capital facilities, and shall proportionally ~~offset~~ **REDUCE** the assessed impact fees within the CFD **EITHER THROUGH THE PROVISION OF CREDIT FOR ELIGIBLE FACILITIES (29-12) OR THROUGH THE CALCULATION AND APPLICATION OF AN OFFSET (29-8 (C) 13).**

15. Offsets. Based on the amounts determined in subsections (B)(13) and (14) of this section, the IIP shall calculate an offset per EDU for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area, and identify how they shall be applied.

16. Net Impact Fee per EDU. For each necessary public service provided, the IIP shall calculate a recommended net impact fee per EDU for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area by subtracting the offset per EDU from the recommended gross impact fee per EDU.

17. Limitations. The adopted gross impact fee per EDU for each necessary public service shall not exceed the amount calculated pursuant to subsection (B)(12) of this section, though nothing in this section prohibits adoption of a lesser figure. If a lesser figure is adopted as the gross impact fee per EDU for a particular necessary public service, the same percentage reduction must be equally applied to:

- a. Each and all ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** areas;
- b. Each and all categories of development or land use for which impact fees are assessed; and
- c. Each offset per EDU.

D. Impact Fee Study. The impact fee study shall summarize the contents of the infrastructure improvements plan, and provide the following information, at a minimum:

1. Maps of the proposed ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area(s) within which an impact fee is to be assessed.
2. The number of existing and projected EDUs for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area, based upon the land use assumptions.
3. Information regarding all necessary public services for which impact fees are to be assessed.

4. Schedules of the proposed impact fees for each necessary public service, for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area, on a per-EDU basis, including details of all offsets to be applied. However, the actual impact fees to be assessed shall be disclosed and adopted in the form of impact fee schedules described in Appendix A of this chapter.

E. Multiple Documents. More than one infrastructure improvements plan and associated impact fee study may be included within the infrastructure financing plan, so long as no more than one of each is effective for each category of necessary public service at any one time. Similarly, multiple categories of necessary public services may be included in a single infrastructure improvements plan and its associated impact fee study.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-8

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-9 Adoption or amendment of the infrastructure financing plan. +1

A. Adoption of an Infrastructure Financing Plan (IFP). The infrastructure financing plan shall be adopted as follows:

1. First Public Hearing—Draft IFP. The City shall conduct a public hearing on the draft IFP, which consists of the land use assumptions (LUA) and the infrastructure improvements plans (IIP). Notice of this hearing shall be posted on the City's public website, together with the draft IFP and any other documents used in preparation, a minimum of 60 days prior to the hearing.
2. First Required Action—Draft IFP. The City Council shall approve or disapprove the draft IFP within 60 days, but no sooner than 30 days, after the first public hearing.
3. Second Public Hearing—Final IFP. The City shall conduct a public hearing on the final IFP, which consists of the land use assumptions (LUA), infrastructure improvements plans, and the impact fee study. Notice of this hearing shall be posted on the City's public website, together with the final IFP, a minimum of 30 days prior to the hearing.
4. Second Required Action—Final IFP. The City Council shall adopt by resolution or disapprove the final IFP within 60 days, but no sooner than 30 days, after the second public hearing.
5. Adoption of Impact Fee Schedules. Following adoption of the final IFP with the second required action, the City Council shall adopt the applicable revised impact fee schedules (to be incorporated in Appendix A of this chapter). Any revised impact fee schedule shall become effective no sooner than 75 days after adoption.

B. Amendment of the Infrastructure Financing Plan.

1. Minor Amendment. The City may update or amend the infrastructure financing plan or the impact fee schedules without a public hearing if all of the following apply:

- a. Any changes to the infrastructure improvements plan and/or the underlying land use assumptions will not add any new category of capital facilities to any ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area.
 - b. The changes in the infrastructure improvements plan and/or the underlying land use assumptions will not provide for a level of service higher than the adopted level of service for any ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area.
 - c. Based on an analysis of the impact fee study and the City's adopted impact fee schedules, the changes in the infrastructure improvements plan and/or the underlying land use assumptions would not, individually or cumulatively with other amendments undertaken pursuant to this subsection, cause an impact fee in any ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area to increase by more than five percent above the impact fee that is provided in the current impact fee schedule.
 - d. Posting. At least 30 days prior to the date that any amendment pursuant to this section is adopted, the City shall post the proposed amendment(s) to the infrastructure financing plan and/or impact fee schedules on the City's public website.
 - e. Effective Date. Any changes to the impact fee schedules shall not be effective until 75 days after the approval of a minor amendment.
 - f. Required Update. An update required by Section 29-10 shall not be considered a minor amendment.
2. Major Amendment. Any proposed amendment to the infrastructure financing plan and/or impact fee schedules which does not comply with the provisions of subsection (B)(1) of this section shall be considered a major amendment, and shall be processed in accordance with the provisions of subsection A of this section.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-9

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-10 Required update of the infrastructure financing plan. +1

The City shall update the infrastructure improvements plan and impact fee study pursuant to Section 29-9 for each necessary public service included in the infrastructure financing plan, within five years of most recent adoption and/or amendment for that necessary public service, subject to the following:

- A. Phased Updates. The City may opt to phase the update required by this section, and only update the portions of the infrastructure improvements plan and impact fee study related to the categories of necessary public service addressed in each particular phase, so long as the time between updates does not exceed five years for any individual category of necessary public service.
- B. Alternative. If, upon review of the infrastructure financing plan at the time of the prescribed update, the City determines that no changes to an infrastructure improvements plan, underlying

land use assumptions, or impact fee study are needed for some or all categories of necessary public service, the City shall publish the following information on its public website:

1. Determination of No Changes. A statement that the City has determined that no change is necessary to the infrastructure improvements plan and the impact fee study, and for which categories of necessary public service;
2. Service Areas. A map and description of the ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area(s) covered by the infrastructure financing plan and/or category of necessary public service; and
3. Contact Information. An address to which any resident of the City may submit, within 60 days of publication on the website, a written request that the City update the infrastructure financing plan and/or impact fee schedules (all or in part), including the reasons and basis for the request. The City shall consider and respond within 30 days to any timely requests submitted pursuant to this subsection.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-10

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-11 Assessment and collection of impact fees. +1

A. Applicable Impact Fee Schedules and Assessment. Impact fees shall be assessed according to the adopted fee schedules provided in Appendix A of this chapter **ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS AND LIMITATIONS**, ~~unless one of the following conditions applies:~~

1. Single-Family Residential Development. For a platted single-family residential development, the impact fee schedules in effect at the time the ~~first~~ building permit is issued **FOR THE FIRST RESIDENTIAL LOT** within the development shall **CONTINUE TO** be applied to all subsequent permits issued within the same platted development for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance of the first building permit, subject to the limitations stated in subsection (A)(3) of this section.
2. Non-Single-Family Residential Development. For a commercial, industrial, or multi-family development, or any other development which is not considered single-family, the impact fee schedules in effect at the time of final approval of a site plan (or plat if no site plan is required) shall be applied to all subsequent permits issued within the same development for a period of 24 months following the **DATE OF** final approval, subject to the limitations stated in subsection (A)(3) of this section.
3. Limitations. The following limitations apply when assessing impact fees:
 - a. If a **AN APPROVED PLAT OR SITE PLAN IS AMENDED** ~~change is made to a single-family residential development~~ within the 24-month periods identified in subsections (A)(1) and (2) of this section, **SUCH THAT** ~~which increases the~~ **TOTAL** number of **APPROVED** EDUs with **IN** the development **IS INCREASED, THEN THE IMPACT FEES ASSESSED AGAINST THE ADDITIONAL EDUS WILL BE CALCULATED** ~~any permit issued after the change is~~

~~made shall be assessed impact fees using the fee schedules in effect at the time of issuance of the permit.~~

b. If the City approves a new impact fee schedule during the 24-month periods identified in subsections (A)(1) and (2) of this section which would decrease the amount of the impact fee assessed, the City shall assess the lower impact fee for a permit issued after the effective date of the lower impact fee.

B. Collection. Impact fees, together with administrative charges assessed pursuant to Section 29-6(D), shall be calculated and collected prior to issuance of permission to commence development; specifically:

1. Building Permit. If a building permit is required for the development, all impact fees shall be paid at the time the building permit is issued, unless otherwise specified by a development agreement pursuant to Section 29-13.

2. **NON-RESIDENTIAL Water or Wastewater without a Building Permit. If a WATER OR WASTEWATER CONNECTION IS REQUIRED APART FROM A BUILDING PERMIT FOR A NON-RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT, OR FOR LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION USE WITHIN A RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT** ~~building permit is not required for the development, but water or wastewater connections are required,~~ any and all **WATER AND WASTEWATER** impact fees due shall be paid at the time the water **OR WASTEWATER** service connection is purchased. ~~If only a wastewater connection is required, the impact fees shall be paid prior to approval of a connection to the wastewater system. Wastewater impact fees shall only be assessed if a development connects to the City's public sewer system or, as determined by the Water Services Director, is capable of discharging sewage to the City's public sewer system.~~

3. RESIDENTIAL DOMESTIC WATER METERS WITHOUT A BUILDING PERMIT. IF A DOMESTIC WATER METER IS REQUIRED APART FROM A BUILDING PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT (SINGLE-FAMILY OR MULTIFAMILY), INCLUDING A DOMESTIC MASTER METER INTENDED TO SERVE MULTIPLE RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS, WATER AND WASTEWATER IMPACT FEES DUE MAY BE PAID INCREMENTALLY AT THE TIME OF ISSUANCE OF THE BUILDING PERMIT(S) FOR THE RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS.

~~34.~~ Civil or Site Permit Only. If the development is located in a service area with a storm drainage impact fee **WHERE FEES ARE ASSESSED ON THE BASIS OF ACREAGE**, and neither a building permit, nor water or wastewater service connection is required, the storm drainage impact fee due shall be paid at the time a civil or site permit is issued for the development. **IF FEES ARE BASED ON ACREAGE, FEES WILL BE PAYABLE FOR THE ENTIRE SITE UNLESS IT CAN BE ESTABLISHED THAT PORTIONS OF THE SITE ARE NOT BEING ALTERED, AND IF ALTERED AT SOME FUTURE TIME WILL BE ASSESSED FEES THROUGH OTHER PERMIT PROCESSES.**

45. Limitation. No building permit, water or wastewater connection, or civil/site permit shall be issued if an impact fee is not paid as directed in the previous subsections.

56. Expansion or Change of Land Use. If the building permit is for an expansion of an existing land use, or a change to a different land use type, the impact fee shall be assessed only for the additional impacts of the expansion or change.

67. Issued or Voided Permits. For issued permits that expire or are voided, impact fees and administrative charges shall be as follows:

a. If the original permittee is seeking to renew an expired or voided permit, and the impact fees paid for such development have not been refunded, then the permittee shall pay the difference between any impact fees paid at the time the permit was issued and those in the fee schedule at the time the permit is reissued or renewed.

b. If a new or renewed permit for the same development is being sought by someone other than the original permittee, the new permit applicant shall pay the full impact fees specified in the fee schedule in effect at the time that the permits are reissued or renewed; provided, that if the original permittee has assigned the permits to the new permit applicant, the new permit applicant shall pay **THE impact fees DUE ON THE NEW OR RENEWED PERMIT** as specified in ~~subsection (A)(6)(a) of this section.~~

C. Exceptions **AND REDUCTIONS**. Impact fees shall not be owed, **OR WILL BE REDUCED**, under the following conditions:

~~1. Full Payment. Impact fees were paid in full for the development, at the fee schedule applicable at the time of payment, and the permit(s) which triggered the collection of the impact fees have not expired or been voided.~~

1. WASTEWATER IMPACT FEES SHALL ONLY BE ASSESSED IF A DEVELOPMENT CONNECTS TO THE CITY'S PUBLIC SEWER SYSTEM OR IS CAPABLE OF DISCHARGING SEWAGE TO THE CITY'S PUBLIC SEWER SYSTEM, AS DETERMINED BY THE WATER SERVICES DIRECTOR.

2. WASTEWATER IMPACT FEES WILL NOT BE ASSESSED FOR LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION USE ONLY. WATER METERS THAT ARE CLASSIFIED BY THE CITY AS BEING FOR LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION USE ONLY SHALL NOT BE ASSESSED A WASTEWATER IMPACT FEE. IF SUCH A METER IS SUBSEQUENTLY RECLASSIFIED AS A DOMESTIC METER FOR GENERAL WATER USE THAT IS CAPABLE OF DISCHARGEING TO THE CITY'S PUBLIC SEWER SYSTEM, A WASTERWATER IMPACT FEE SHALL BE ASSESSED AND COLLECTED AT THE TIME OF RECLASSIFICATION.

~~23. Modifications.~~ **IMPACT FEES SHALL NOT BE ASSESSED IF M**Modifications to existing residential or non-residential development **ARE BEING MADE** that do not **INCREASE THE NUMBER OF EDUS ATTRIBUTED TO A DEVELOPMENT.** ~~:(a) add new EDUs, (b)~~

~~increase the impact of existing EDUs on existing or future capital facilities, or (c) change the land use type of the existing development to a different category of development for which a higher impact fee would have been due. To the extent that any modification does not meet the requirements of this subsection, the impact fee due shall be the difference between the impact fee that was or would have been due on the existing development and the impact fee that is due on the development as modified.~~

4. ~~Water Meters for Landscape Irrigation Use Only. Water meters which are classified by the City as being for landscape irrigation use only shall not be assessed a wastewater impact fee. If such a meter is subsequently reclassified as a general use meter, a wastewater impact fee shall be assessed and collected at the time of reclassification.~~ **TO THE EXTENT THAT ANY MODIFICATION DOES NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE PRIOR SUBSECTION, THE IMPACT FEE DUE SHALL BE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE IMPACT FEE THAT WAS OR WOULD HAVE BEEN DUE ON THE EXISTING DEVELOPMENT AND THE IMPACT FEE THAT IS DUE ON THE DEVELOPMENT AS MODIFIED. IMPACT FEES WILL BE DETERMINED AS FOLLOWS:**

a. **MODIFICATIONS INVOLVING THE REPLACEMENT OR REMOVAL AND INSTALLATION OF A WATER METER WILL RESULT IN WATER AND WASTEWATER IMPACT FEES THAT ARE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FEES THAT WOULD BE DUE FOR THE REPLACED OR REMOVED METER AND THE FEES THAT ARE DUE FOR THE NEW METER, USING THE IMPACT FEE SCHEDULES IN EFFECT AT THE TIME THE NEW METER IS PURCHASED.**

b. **MODIFICATIONS INVOLVING THE ADDITION OF BUILT SPACE WITH NO CHANGE IN LAND USE WILL RESULT IN APPLICABLE IMPACT FEES BASED ON THE ADDED SQUARE FOOTAGE ONLY, USING THE IMPACT FEE SCHEDULES IN EFFECT AT THE TIME THE PERMIT IS ISSUED FOR THE ADDITION.**

c. **MODIFICATIONS INVOLVING THE ADDITION OF BUILT SPACE WITH CHANGES IN LAND USE WILL RESULT IN APPLICABLE IMPACT FEES BASED ON THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FEES THAT WOULD BE DUE ON THE EXISTING SPACE WITH THE EXISTING LAND USE AND THE FEES DUE FOR THE TOTAL SPACE (EXISTING AND ADDITION) WITH THE NEW LAND USE, USING THE IMPACT FEE SCHEDULES IN EFFECT AT THE TIME THE PERMIT IS ISSUED FOR THE ADDITION.**

d. **MODIFICATIONS INVOLVING DEVELOPMENT IN AREAS WHERE STORM DRAINAGE IMPACT FEES ARE ASSESSED ON THE BASIS OF ACREAGE WILL RESULT IN A DRAINAGE IMPACT FEE DUE ONLY FOR THE ACREAGE THAT HAS NOT YET BEEN DEVELOPED AND FOR WHICH NO DRAINAGE IMPACT FEE WAS PREVIOUSLY COLLECTED, USING THE IMPACT FEE SCHEDULE IN EFFECT AT THE TIME THE PERMIT IS ISSUED.**

5. AT THE OPTION OF THE APPLICANT OR THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, THE TOTAL NUMBER OF EDUS, OR THE EDU FACTOR, USED TO CALCULATE IMPACT FEES FOR A SUBJECT DEVELOPMENT MAY BE DETERMINED BY AN INDEPENDENT ANALYSIS IF THE TYPE OF PROPOSED LAND USE IS NOT WITHIN OR COMPARABLE TO THE LAND USE TYPES STATED IN THE FEE SCHEDULES PROVIDED. IF THIS OPTION IS CHOSEN:

A. THE APPLICANT SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PREPARING THE INDEPENDENT IMPACT ANALYSIS, WHICH SHALL BE REVIEWED FOR APPROVAL BY THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF THE IMPACT FEE(S) TO WHICH THE ANALYSIS APPLIES.

B. AN INDEPENDENT IMPACT ANALYSIS SHALL DESCRIBE AND QUANTIFY THE IMPACT THE SUBJECT DEVELOPMENT WILL HAVE ON THE NECESSARY PUBLIC SERVICE(S) INCLUDED IN THE INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING PLAN AND SHALL BE BASED ON THE SAME METHODOLOGIES USED IN THE CALCULATION OF GROSS COST PER EDU FOR THE APPLICABLE INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN. IN THE CASE OF DRAINAGE IMPACT FEES, AN INDEPENDENT IMPACT ANALYSIS MAY ALSO DESCRIBE AND QUANTIFY THE BENEFITS THAT FACILITIES IN THE INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING PLAN PROVIDE TO THE DEVELOPMENT, TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THAT THOSE BENEFITS INCLUDE ELEMENTS SUCH AS FLOOD PROTECTION OF NEARBY ACCESS ROADS AND OTHER FACILITIES.

C. AN INDEPENDENT IMPACT ANALYSIS SHALL UTILIZE ONLY PROFESSIONALLY ACCEPTED DATA, ASSUMPTIONS AND EVALUATION METHODS.

D. AFTER REVIEW OF THE INDEPENDENT IMPACT ANALYSIS SUBMITTED BY THE APPLICANT, THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR SHALL ACCEPT, REJECT OR MODIFY THE ANALYSIS AND PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE APPLICANT OF THE DECISION. IF AN INDEPENDENT IMPACT ANALYSIS IS REJECTED OR MODIFIED, THE WRITTEN NOTICE SHALL INCLUDE AN EXPLANATION OF THE INSUFFICIENCIES OF THE ANALYSIS.

E. THE DECISION OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR MAY BE APPEALED PURSUANT TO SUBSECTION 29-14.

D. STORM DRAINAGE IMPACT FEES IN THE PARADISE RIDGE IMPACT FEE AREA

1. STORM DRAINAGE IMPACT FEES IN THE PARADISE RIDGE IMPACT FEE AREA WILL ONLY BE ASSESSED ON OR AFTER THE APPROVAL DATE OF A LETTER OF MAP REVISION (LOMR) BY THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

AGENCY (FEMA) THAT ELIMINATES THE FLOODPLAIN WITHIN THE PARADISE RIDGE IMPACT FEE AREA, UNLESS:

A. A FINAL SITE PLAN (OR PLAT IF NO SITE PLAN IS REQUIRED) IS APPROVED BY THE CITY, WITHOUT THE CONDITIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT APPROVAL REQUIRED WITHIN A FEMA DESIGNATED AO ZONE FLOODPLAIN OR SIMILAR REQUIREMENTS OR RESTRICTIONS, SUCH THAT THE DEVELOPMENT WILL NOT INCUR THE COSTS TYPICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH DEVELOPING LAND WITHIN A ZONE AO FLOODPLAIN, AND IT CAN BE DEMONSTRATED THAT THE DEVELOPMENT STANDS TO BENEFIT FROM THE REGIONAL DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS BY AVOIDING SUCH COSTS.

2. STORM DRAINAGE IMPACT FEES IN THE PARADISE RIDGE IMPACT FEE AREA WILL NOT BE ASSESSED IF IT CAN BE DEMONSTRATED THAT THE CONDITIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT APPROVAL REQUIRED WITHIN A FEMA DESIGNATED AO FLOODPLAIN OR SIMILAR REQUIREMENTS OR RESTRICTIONS HAVE BEEN PERMITTED AND COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY'S CODE CHAPTER 32B FLOODPLAINS, SUCH THAT THE DEVELOPMENT INCURRED COSTS TYPICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH DEVELOPING LAND WITHIN A ZONE AO FLOODPLAIN, AND IT CAN BE DEMONSTRATED THAT THE DEVELOPMENT DOES NOT STAND TO BENEFIT FROM THE REGIONAL DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS BY AVOIDING SUCH COSTS.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-11

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-12 Impact fee credits and credit agreements. +1

~~A. Eligibility of Capital Facility. Any facility for which impact fee credits are to be provided must meet the following requirements:~~

~~1. Identification in the Infrastructure Financing Plan. The IFP must identify the capital facility for which credits are requested as one for which an impact fee is assessed. If the City consents to amend the infrastructure financing plan pursuant to Section 29-9(B) to add a capital facility not previously identified in this manner, no credits may be allocated or issued prior to the amendment of the infrastructure financing plan.~~

~~2. Provision or Financial Contribution. Credits may be generated from a developer's costs of dedication, construction, or other provision of an eligible capital facility, or from a payment or financial contribution towards the provision of an eligible capital facility, so long as the City does not otherwise compensate the developer for the same contributions.~~

~~3. Service Area. The capital facility provided must be located within, or provide direct service to, the service area within which the subject development is located.~~

~~4. Functionality. The capital facility provided must be functional and accepted by the City.~~

~~B.— Eligibility of Subject Development. To be eligible for a credit, the subject development must be located within the service area of the eligible capital facility, and be assessed an impact fee for the applicable necessary public service.~~

~~C.— Calculation of Credits. Credits will be based on the costs for an eligible capital facility identified in the adopted IFP, and shall comply with the following:~~

~~1.— Total Value. The total value of the credits shall be the lesser of:~~

~~a.— The projected cost of the capital facility, as provided in the approved IFP; or~~

~~b.— The actual costs incurred by the applicant in providing the eligible capital facility. Actual costs are limited to costs associated with the same components, in the same proportions, used to determine the costs in the approved IFP.~~

~~In cases where a developer enters into an agreement with the City to jointly provide an eligible capital facility, the projected cost of the capital facility calculated from the approved IFP will be reduced to be proportionate with the developer's contribution to the construction of the capital facility.~~

~~2.— Credits for Partially Completed Capital Facilities. The City may elect to approve alternative credit values for a partially completed but functional eligible capital facility using one of the following methods:~~

~~a.— Using values interpolated from costs identified in the approved infrastructure improvements plan for the completed capital facility; or~~

~~b.— Using actual costs incurred by the applicant.~~

~~3.— Proportional Credit Values. In the event that the impact fee schedules adopted in Appendix A of this chapter utilize a net fee per EDU which is less than the recommended net fee per EDU calculated in the approved impact fee study, credits based on costs identified in the infrastructure improvements plan will be provided in a manner proportionate with the adopted fee schedule. For example, if the adopted net fee per EDU is only 50 percent of the recommended net fee per EDU, the maximum credit value for facilities provided against that fee will be 50 percent of the estimated costs included in the IIP for that type of facility. Credits calculated using other methods permitted by this chapter are not subject to the provisions of this subsection.~~

~~D.— Allocation of Credits. Credits must be allocated to a subject development prior to any issuance of credits with any permit associated with the subject development. Credits are allocated as follows:~~

~~1.— Developer Responsibility. It is the responsibility of the developer to request allocation of impact fee credits through an application for a preliminary credit agreement (which may be part of a development agreement entered into pursuant to Section 29-13) with the City.~~

~~2.— Preliminary Credit Agreement. The City Manager is authorized by this chapter to enter into a preliminary credit agreement with the controlling entity of a subject development, which will include, at a minimum, the following information and supporting documentation:~~

~~a.— A legal description and map depicting the location of the subject development for which credit is being applied;~~

~~b.— A description of the proposed development, including proposed building areas and/or number of units, and types of uses;~~

~~c.— A list of the capital facilities, associated physical attributes, as stated in the approved IFP;~~

~~d.— The costs associated with the capital facilities as stated in the approved IFP;~~

~~e.— The estimated costs of construction of the capital facilities as provided by the developer;~~

~~f.— A map depicting the location of the capital facilities that have been or will be provided;~~

~~g.— The estimated value of credits to be applied within the subject development and the calculations leading to the estimated value of credits.~~

~~3.— Limitation on Prior Permits. If a building permit is issued or a water/wastewater connection is purchased, and an impact fee is paid prior to execution of a preliminary credit agreement for the subject development, no credits may be allocated retroactively to that permit or connection. Credits may be allocated to any remaining permits for the subject development in accordance with the rest of this chapter.~~

~~4.— Successors and Assignments. If the entity that provides an eligible capital facility sells or relinquishes a subject development (or portion thereof) that it owns or controls prior to execution of a preliminary credit agreement or development agreement, credits resulting from the eligible capital facility will only be allocated to the subject development if the entity legally assigns such rights and responsibilities to their successor(s) in interest for the subject development.~~

~~5.— Joint Development. If multiple entities jointly provide an eligible capital facility, both entities must enter into a joint credit agreement with the City, and any request for the allocation of credit within the subject development(s) must be made jointly by the entities that provided the eligible capital facility.~~

~~6.— Allocation of Credits. Upon execution of the preliminary credit agreement by the City and the applicant, credits shall be deemed allocated to the subject development.~~

~~7.— Reallocation of Credits. Credits may only be reallocated from or within a subject development with the City's approval of an amendment to an executed agreement, subject to the following conditions:~~

~~a. The entity who executed the original agreement with the City, or its legal successor in interest, and the entity that currently controls the subject development are parties to the request for reallocation; and~~

~~b. The reallocation proposal does not change the value of any credits already issued to the subject development.~~

~~E. Issuance of Credits. Credits allocated pursuant to Section 29-13(D) may be issued and applied toward the impact fees upon execution of a final credit agreement, subject to the following:~~

~~1. Developer Responsibility. It is the responsibility of the developer to request issuance of impact fee credits through an application for a final credit agreement (which may be part of a development agreement entered into pursuant to Section 29-13) with the City.~~

~~2. Time Limitation. An application for a final credit agreement shall be submitted to the City by the developer within two years of acceptance of the eligible capital facility by the City.~~

~~3. Final Credit Agreement. The City Manager is authorized by this chapter to enter into a final credit agreement with the controlling entity of a subject development, which will include, at a minimum, all of the same information as the preliminary credit agreement, and the following additional information:~~

~~a. Date of acceptance of the eligible capital facility by the City.~~

~~b. Final costs incurred by the developer to provide the eligible capital facility.~~

~~c. The total value of the credits to be issued, as determined by the City in accordance with subsection C of this section.~~

~~d. Map(s) and legal descriptions of the subject development(s) to which the credits will be applied.~~

~~4. Non-Transferability. Credits issued for an eligible capital facility may only be applied to an impact fee assessed for the associated necessary public service for which the capital facility was provided, and for a subject development which is located in the service area which is served by the eligible capital facility.~~

~~5. Acceptance or Security. Credits shall only be issued when the eligible capital facility from which the credits were derived has been accepted by the City, or when adequate security for the completion of the eligible capital facility has been provided in accordance with all terms of an executed development agreement.~~

~~6. Reduction in Impact Fee or Refund. Where credits have been allocated pursuant to subsection D of this section, and a final credit agreement has been executed, an impact fee due at the time a permit is issued or connection is purchased shall be reduced by the credit amount~~

~~stated in or calculated from the executed final credit agreement, in an amount no greater than the impact fee assessed with that permit. Where credits have been allocated through an executed preliminary credit agreement, and a final credit agreement has not yet been executed, the impact fee shall be paid in full and a refund of the credit amount shall be due after a final credit agreement has been executed.~~

~~7. Limitation on Credit Re-Issuance. Credits, once issued, may not be rescinded or reallocated to another permit or parcel, except that credits may be released for reuse on the same subject development if a permit for which the credits were issued has expired or been voided, and is otherwise eligible for a refund under Section 29-15.~~

~~8. Excess Credits. Excess credits (credits exceeding the assessed impact fees due for a subject development) may be distributed to other eligible properties located within the same service area upon execution of a new or revised final credit agreement. Excess credits may not be reimbursed from City funds without execution of a development agreement pursuant to Section 29-13.~~

A. ELIGIBILITY OF CONTRIBUTIONS. ELIGIBLE CONTRIBUTIONS INCLUDE FACILITIES THAT HAVE BEEN CONSTRUCTED, DEDICATED, PAID FOR, OR OTHERWISE PROVIDED BY PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

- 1. CAPITAL FACILITIES FOR WHICH AN IMPACT FEE IS BEING COLLECTED MUST BE IDENTIFIED IN AN APPROVED INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCING PLAN (IFP) AND MUST BE ACCEPTED BY THE CITY, UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED PURSUANT TO SECTION 29-12 B.5;**
- 2. LANDS FOR WHICH AN IMPACT FEE IS BEING COLLECTED MUST BE IDENTIFIED IN AN APPROVED IFP AND MUST BE DEDICATED TO THE CITY;**
- 3. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS THAT HAVE BEEN PAID TO THE CITY OR OTHER ACCOUNT APPROVED BY THE CITY THAT IS DEDICATED TO FUND ELIGIBLE CAPITAL FACILITY CONSTRUCTION OR LAND ACQUISITION IN-LIEU OF PROVIDING CAPITAL FACILITIES OR DEDICATING LAND FOR WHICH AN IMPACT FEE IS BEING COLLECTED.**

B. CALCULATION OF IMPACT FEE CREDIT. CREDIT WILL BE CALCULATED SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

- 1. IF CREDIT IS GRANTED FOR AN ELIGIBLE CAPITAL FACILITY OR LAND CONTRIBUTION, THEN THE VALUE OF THE IMPACT FEE CREDIT WILL BE BASED ON THE ESTIMATED COST OF THE CONTRIBUTION AS PROVIDED IN THE APPROVED IFP (THE "PLAN COST"), UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.**
- 2. IF CREDIT IS GRANTED FOR A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION, THE CREDIT WILL BE VALUED AT A ONE-TO-ONE DOLLAR VALUE OF THE CONTRIBUTION.**

3. CREDIT MAY BE VALUED ON THE BASIS OF THE ACTUAL COSTS INCURRED BY A DEVELOPER IF SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT THAT HAS BEEN EXECUTED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTING THE FACILITY OR ACQUIRING THE LAND, AND SUFFICIENT DOCUMENTATION OF ACTUAL COSTS HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO THE CITY.

4. IF THE CITY PARTICIPATES IN THE CONSTRUCTION OF ELIGIBLE CAPITAL FACILITIES, OR THE ACQUISITION OF ELIGIBLE LANDS, THE AVAILABLE IMPACT FEE CREDIT WILL BE ADJUSTED PROPORTIONATELY TO REFLECT THE CITY'S CONTRIBUTION.

5. THE CITY MAY ELECT TO APPROVE AN ALTERNATIVE CREDIT VALUE FOR AN ELIGIBLE CAPITAL FACILITY, IF THE CAPITAL FACILITY IS ACCEPTED BY THE CITY PRIOR TO ULTIMATE COMPLETION OR IF THE PLAN COST FOR A SPECIFIC TYPE AND/OR SIZE OF THE CAPITAL FACILITY IS NOT IDENTIFIED AVAILABLE IN THE APPROVED IFP, USING ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING METHODS:

A. USING VALUES INTERPOLATED FROM THE PLAN COST IDENTIFIED IN THE APPROVED IFP FOR THE FACILITY; OR

B. USING ACTUAL COSTS INCURRED BY THE DEVELOPER.
DOCUMENTATION OF ACTUAL COSTS MUST BE PROVIDED TO THE CITY.

6. PROPORTIONAL CREDIT VALUES. IN THE EVENT THAT THE IMPACT FEE SCHEDULES ADOPTED IN APPENDIX A OF THIS CHAPTER UTILIZE A NET FEE PER EDU WHICH IS LESS THAN THE RECOMMENDED NET FEE PER EDU CALCULATED IN THE APPROVED IMPACT FEE STUDY, CREDITS BASED ON COSTS IDENTIFIED IN THE INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN WILL BE PROVIDED IN A MANNER PROPORTIONATE WITH THE ADOPTED FEE SCHEDULE. FOR EXAMPLE, IF THE ADOPTED NET FEE PER EDU IS ONLY 50 PERCENT OF THE RECOMMENDED NET FEE PER EDU, THE MAXIMUM CREDIT VALUE FOR FACILITIES PROVIDED AGAINST THAT FEE WILL BE 50 PERCENT OF THE ESTIMATED COSTS INCLUDED IN THE IIP FOR THAT TYPE OF FACILITY. CREDITS CALCULATED USING OTHER METHODS PERMITTED BY THIS CHAPTER ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SUBSECTION.

7. IF AN ELIGIBLE FACILITY FOR WHICH CREDIT IS REQUESTED IS ALSO INCLUDED IN A REPAYMENT AGREEMENT, THEN THE IMPACT FEE CREDIT AVAILABLE TO THE DEVELOPER WILL BE LIMITED TO THAT PORTION OF THE FACILITY THAT THE REPAYMENT AGREEMENT ALLOCATES TO THE DEVELOPER. CREDIT WILL NOT BE PROVIDED FOR THAT PORTION OF THE FACILITY THAT THE REPAYMENT AGREEMENT WILL REQUIRE NEIGHBORING PARCELS TO PAY PRIOR TO DEVELOPING.

C. APPLICATION FOR IMPACT FEE CREDIT. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE DEVELOPER TO COMPLETE AND FILE AN APPLICATION FOR IMPACT FEE CREDIT PURSUANT TO THE FOLLOWING REQUIREMENTS, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

1. AN APPLICATION FOR CREDIT MUST INCLUDE, AT A MINIMUM, THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTATION:

A. THE APPLICANT'S CONTACT INFORMATION;

B. A DESCRIPTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT FOR WHICH AN ELIGIBLE CONTRIBUTION IS A CONDITION OF DEVELOPMENT APPROVAL, INCLUDING:

- I. A MAP THAT CLEARLY IDENTIFIES THE LOCATION AND BOUNDARIES;
- II. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED LAND USES;
- III. ESTIMATED TOTAL LAND AREA (ACREAGE) AND THE NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS OR SQUARE FOOTAGE OF NON-RESIDENTIAL STRUCTURES;
- IV. ESTIMATED WATER METER SPECIFICATIONS (SIZE / TYPE);
- V. IF IN A STORM DRAINAGE IMPACT FEE AREA, A MAP THAT DEPICTS PORTIONS OF THE DEVELOPMENT THAT WILL BE IMPROVED, GRADED, OR OTHERWISE MODIFIED.

C. A DESCRIPTION OF THE ELIGIBLE CONTRIBUTION FOR WHICH CREDIT IS BEING REQUESTED, INCLUDING:

- I. A MAP IDENTIFYING THE APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF THE FACILITY;
- II. A DESCRIPTION OF THE TYPE OF FACILITY;
- III. ESTIMATED SIZE (E.G. PIPE DIAMETER, PUMP CAPACITY, ROAD CROSS-SECTION, ETC) OF THE FACILITY;
- IV. ESTIMATED ACTUAL COST OF THE FACILITY, IF KNOWN;
- V. ESTIMATED PLAN COST FROM THE IIP FOR THE FACILITY.

D. THE ESTIMATED CREDIT BALANCE;

E. CREDIT ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS. THE APPLICANT MUST PROVIDE WRITTEN CREDIT ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS THAT IDENTIFY SPECIFICALLY WHERE THE CREDIT WILL BE ALLOCATED. IF THE CREDIT WILL BE ALLOCATED TO MULTIPLE DEVELOPMENTS AND/OR DEVELOPERS, THE ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS MUST SPECIFY THE AMOUNT OF CREDIT TO ALLOCATE TO EACH DEVELOPMENT AND/OR DEVELOPER. IN ADDITION, IF THE TOTAL ESTIMATED CREDIT IS LESS THAN THE ESTIMATED APPLICABLE IMPACT FEE LIABILITY, THEN THE ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS MUST SPECIFY IF THE CREDIT WILL BE DIVIDED EQUALLY AMONG ALL PLANNED EDUS WITHIN A DEVELOPMENT,

OR IF THE CREDIT WILL BE ISSUED AT THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT PER EDU; WHICH CANNOT EXCEED THE NET IMPACT FEE IN EFFECT AT THE TIME THE PERMIT IS OBTAINED. A SEPARATE CREDIT AGREEMENT WILL BE EXECUTED FOR EACH DEVELOPER TO WHICH THE CREDIT IS ALLOCATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS. CREDIT MAY ONLY BE ALLOCATED WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE IMPACT FEE AREA THAT WILL BENEFIT FROM THE CONTRIBUTION;

2. ELIGIBILITY TO RECEIVE A CREDIT AS A REFUND. CREDIT PROVIDED IN THE FORM OF A REFUND WILL NOT BE APPLIED TOWARD ANY PERMITS THAT ARE ISSUED PRIOR TO RECEIVING AN APPLICATION FOR CREDIT, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

3. AN APPLICATION FOR CREDIT IS DEEMED APPROVED WHEN:

A. IF THE CONTRIBUTION FOR WHICH CREDIT IS BEING REQUESTED IS A CAPITAL FACILITY OR A LAND DEDICATION, THEN THE APPLICATION FOR CREDIT WILL BE DEEMED APPROVED ONCE THE APPLICANT PROVIDES VERIFICATION THAT THE CAPITAL FACILITY HAS BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE CITY, OR THAT THE TITLE TO LAND HAS BEEN TRANSFERRED TO THE CITY.

B. IF THE CONTRIBUTION IS A FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION, THEN THE APPLICATION WILL BE DEEMED APPROVED ONCE THE PAYMENT HAS BEEN RECEIVED AND THE DEPOSIT HAS CLEARED TO THE DESIGNATED FUND.

4. TIME LIMITATION. AN APPLICATION FOR CREDIT MUST BE APPROVED WITHIN TWO YEARS OF THE DATE OF ACCEPTANCE OF A CAPITAL FACILITY OR THE CLOSING DATE OF A LAND TITLE TRANSFER.

D. CREDIT AGREEMENT. A CREDIT AGREEMENT MUST BE EXECUTED BETWEEN THE CITY AND A DEVELOPER THAT IS ENTITLED TO RECEIVE IMPACT FEE CREDIT. THE CITY MANAGER IS AUTHORIZED BY THIS CHAPTER TO ENTER INTO A CREDIT AGREEMENT UPON ACCEPTANCE OF A COMPLETE CREDIT APPLICATION.

1. THE CREDIT AGREEMENT WILL INCLUDE, AT A MINIMUM, THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTATION:

A. APPLICATION: ALL INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR THE APPLICATION FOR IMPACT FEE CREDIT UNDER SUB-SECTION (C) MUST BE REVIEWED FOR ACCURACY. ANY ITEMS THAT CHANGED SUBSEQUENT TO THE APPLICATION FOR CREDIT MUST BE UPDATED AND RESUBMITTED WITH THE BEST AVAILABLE INFORMATION AT THE TIME THE CREDIT AGREEMENT IS EXECUTED. THE DEVELOPER WILL ALSO PROVIDE

DOCUMENTATION OF ACTUAL COSTS, PROVIDED IN A MANNER ACCEPTABLE TO THE CITY, WHICH WILL BE USED IN THE ESTIMATION OF FACILITY COSTS IN FUTURE.

B. ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS: THE ALLOCATIONS INSTRUCTIONS LETTER DESCRIBED UNDER SECTION 9-12B.1E WILL BE INCORPORATED IN THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AS AN EXHIBIT.

C. MAP OF SUBJECT DEVELOPMENT: A DETAILED MAP IDENTIFYING WHERE THE CREDIT IS ALLOCATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS DESCRIBED UNDER SECTION 9-12 B.1.E WILL BE INCORPORATED IN THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AS AN EXHIBIT.

D. CREDIT TRACKING AND BALANCE STATEMENT: A TABLE SPECIFYING THE AVAILABLE CREDIT BALANCE WILL BE INCORPORATED IN THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AS AN EXHIBIT.

2. ISSUANCE OF CREDIT. CREDIT WILL ONLY BE ISSUED AGAINST PERMITS OBTAINED WITHIN A SUBJECT DEVELOPMENT AFTER THE CONTRIBUTION HAS BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE CITY AND A CREDIT AGREEMENT HAS BEEN EXECUTED, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. CREDIT MAY BE ISSUED PRIOR TO EXECUTING A CREDIT AGREEMENT, IF ALL THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS ARE MET:

A. THE APPLICABLE CONTRIBUTION HAS BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE CITY, AND

B. IMPACT FEES HAVE BEEN PAID ON PERMITS OBTAINED WITHIN THE SUBJECT DEVELOPMENT PRIOR TO THE CITY ACCEPTING THE APPLICABLE CONTRIBUTION, AND

C. THE IMPACT FEES PAID PRIOR TO THE CITY ACCEPTING THE APPLICABLE CONTRIBUTION ARE ELIGIBLE FOR A REFUND UPON EXECUTION OF A CREDIT AGREEMENT. THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF CREDIT ISSUED PRIOR TO EXECUTING A CREDIT AGREEMENT WILL BE CAPPED AT THE AMOUNT OF THE REFUND OWED.

3. ISSUANCE OF A REFUND. REFUNDS RESULTING FROM CREDIT ISSUED WILL BE REMITTED TO THE PERMITTEE WITHIN 60 DAYS OF EXECUTING A CREDIT AGREEMENT, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

4. ACCEPTANCE OR SECURITY. CREDIT MAY ONLY BE ISSUED AFTER THE ELIGIBLE CONTRIBUTION FOR WHICH THE CREDIT HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED IS ACCEPTED BY OR TRANSFERRED TO THE CITY. THE CITY MAY ISSUE CREDIT PRIOR TO ACCEPTING A CAPITAL FACILITY IF ADEQUATE SECURITY FOR THE COMPLETION OF THE FACILITY HAS BEEN PROVIDED, SUCH AS AN

IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT OR SIMILAR TYPE OF SECURITY ACCEPTABLE TO THE CITY, OR IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF AN EXECUTED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

5. CREDIT BALANCE ADJUSTMENT. CREDIT BALANCES MAY BE ADJUSTED TO REFLECT CHANGES THAT OCCUR WHEN APPLICABLE SECTIONS OF THE IFP ARE UPDATED OR AMENDED, ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING:

A. IF A GROSS IMPACT FEE INCREASES OR DECREASES BECAUSE OF INFLATION OR DEFLATION IN FACILITY COSTS, THEN THE AGGREGATE PERCENT INCREASE OR DECREASE MAY BE APPLIED TO THE REMAINING CREDIT BALANCE.

B. IF A GROSS IMPACT FEE DECREASES BECAUSE SPECIFIC FACILITY TYPES OR COMPONENTS HAVE BEEN ELIMINATED FROM THE FEE CALCULATION, AND CREDIT WAS PROVIDED FOR THE ELIMINATED FACILITY TYPE OR COMPONENT, THEN THE REMAINING CREDIT BALANCE MAY BE REDUCED BY THE PERCENTAGE THAT THE ELIMINATED FACILITY TYPE OR COMPONENT CONTRIBUTED TOWARD THE ORIGINAL CREDIT BALANCE.

C. IF A GROSS IMPACT FEE INCREASES OR DECREASES BECAUSE OF CHANGES IN THE METHODOLOGY FOR CALCULATING THE FEE, THEN THE REMAINING CREDIT BALANCES WILL NOT BE ADJUSTED, NOTWITHSTANDING CREDIT BALANCE REDUCTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 29-12 D 5(B).

D. IF A DEVELOPMENT IS NOT SUBJECT TO A FEE INCREASE BECAUSE OF THE GRANDFATHERING PROVISION OF A.R.S. 9-463.05, THEN THE REMAINING CREDIT BALANCE WILL NOT BE ADJUSTED UNTIL THE GRANDFATHERING PERIOD HAS EXPIRED.

6. RE-ALLOCATION OF CREDIT. A CREDIT AGREEMENT MUST BE AMENDED TO RE-ALLOCATE AVAILABLE CREDIT TO DEVELOPMENTS LOCATED WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE APPLICABLE IMPACT FEE AREA.

7. LIMITATION ON CREDIT RE-ISSUANCE. CREDITS, ONCE ISSUED, MAY NOT BE RESCINDED OR REALLOCATED TO ANOTHER PERMIT OR PARCEL, EXCEPT THAT CREDITS MAY BE RELEASED FOR REUSE ON THE SAME SUBJECT DEVELOPMENT IF A PERMIT FOR WHICH THE CREDITS WERE ISSUED HAS EXPIRED OR BEEN VOIDED AND IS OTHERWISE ELIGIBLE FOR A REFUND UNDER SECTION 29-15.

8. NON-TRANSFERABILITY TO OTHER FEES. CREDIT MAY ONLY BE ISSUED TO REDUCE THE APPLICABLE IMPACT FEE FOR WHICH THE ELIGIBLE CONTRIBUTION WAS PROVIDED. CREDIT WILL NOT REDUCE ANY OTHER FEES

CHARGED BY THE CITY; INCLUDING OTHER IMPACT FEES, OR ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES ASSOCIATED WITH THE IMPACT FEE PROGRAM.

9. NO REIMBURSEMENT. CREDIT MAY NOT BE REIMBURSED FROM CITY FUNDS, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

10. EXPIRATION OF A CREDIT AGREEMENT. CREDIT AGREEMENTS EXPIRE TWENTY (20) YEARS FROM THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AGREEMENT.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-12

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-13 Development agreements. +1

Development agreements containing provisions regarding impact fees, impact fee credits, and/or disbursement of revenues from impact fee accounts shall comply with the following:

A. Development Agreement Required. A development agreement is required to authorize any of the following:

1. To issue credits prior to the City's acceptance of an eligible capital facility;
2. To reimburse the developer of an eligible capital facility using funds from impact fee accounts;
3. To allow non-standard payment of impact fees from other City accounts.

B. General Requirements. All development agreements shall be prepared and executed in accordance with Section 9-500.05, Arizona Revised Statutes, which includes approval by action of the City Council. Except where specifically modified by this section, all provisions of Section 29-12 shall apply to any credit agreement that is authorized as part of a development agreement.

C. Early Credit Issuance. A development agreement may authorize the issuance of credits prior to acceptance of an eligible capital facility by the city when the development agreement specifically states the form and value of the security (i.e., bond, letter of credit, etc.) to be provided to the City prior to issuance of any credits. The City shall determine the acceptable form and value of the security to be provided.

D. Use of Reimbursements. Funds reimbursed to developers from impact fee accounts for construction of an eligible capital facility must be utilized in accordance with applicable law and standard procedures for the use of City funds in construction or acquisition of capital facilities, including Section 34-201, et seq., Arizona Revised Statutes.

E. No Obligation. Nothing in this section obligates the City to enter into any development agreement or to authorize any type of credit agreement or reimbursement plan permitted by this section.

29-14 Appeals. +1

An impact fee determination by City staff may be appealed in accordance with the following procedures:

- A. **Limited Scope.** An appeal shall be limited to disputes regarding the calculation of the impact fees for a specific development and/or permit and calculation of EDUs for the development.
- B. **Form of Appeal.** An appeal shall be initiated on such written form as the City may prescribe, and submitted to the Planning and Development Department for processing.
- C. **Decision of the Planning and Development Director.** The Planning and Development Director, in consultation with the director(s) of the department(s) responsible for the associated necessary public service(s), shall act upon the appeal within 30 calendar days of the filing of the appeal. The applicant shall be notified in writing of the Planning and Development Director's decision.
- D. **Appeal of the Planning and Development Director's Decision.** The applicant may further appeal the decision of the Planning and Development Director within 30 calendar days of the decision to the City Manager.
- E. **Decision of the City Manager.** The City Manager shall act upon the appeal of the Planning and Development Director's decision within 30 calendar days of the filing of the appeal with the City Manager's office. The applicant shall be notified in writing of the decision of the City Manager.
- F. **Final Decision.** The decision of the City Manager regarding the appeal is final.
- G. **Fees During Pendency.** Building permits may be issued during the pendency of an appeal if the applicant pays the impact fee due at the time the appeal is filed. Upon final disposition of an appeal, the fee shall be adjusted in accordance with the decision rendered, and a refund paid if warranted.

29-15 Refunds of impact fees. +1

- A. **Refunds.** A refund (or partial refund) will be paid to any current owner of property within the City who submits a written request to the City and demonstrates that:
 - 1. The owner of the subject real property or its predecessor in interest paid an impact fee for an applicable category of necessary public service on or after August 1, 2014; and

2. One of the following conditions exists:

- a. The permit(s) which triggered the collection of the impact fee have: (1) expired or been voided prior to the commencement of the development for which the permits were issued; and (2) not been expended, encumbered, or pledged for the repayment of financing or debt.
- b. The capital facility designed to serve the subject real property has been constructed, has the capacity to serve the subject real property and any development for which there is reserved capacity, and the service which was to be provided by that capital facility has not been provided to the subject real property from that capital facility or from any other infrastructure.
- c. After collecting the fee to construct a capital facility, the City fails to complete construction of the capital facility within the time period identified in the infrastructure financing plan, as it may be amended, and the corresponding service is otherwise unavailable to the subject real property from that capital facility or any other infrastructure.
- d. Any part of an impact fee for a necessary public service (not including water or wastewater) is not spent within ten years of the City's receipt of the impact fee.
- e. Any part of an impact fee for water or wastewater facilities is not spent within 15 years of the City's receipt of the impact fee.
- f. The impact fee was calculated and collected for the construction cost to provide all or a portion of a specific capital facility serving the subject real property and the actual construction costs for the capital facility are less than the construction costs projected in the infrastructure improvements plan by a factor of ten percent or more. In such event, the current owner of the subject real property shall, upon request as set forth in this subsection A, be entitled to a refund for the difference between the amounts of the impact fee charged for and attributable to such construction cost and the amount the impact fee would have been calculated to be if the actual construction cost had been included in the fee study. The refund contemplated by this subsection shall relate only to the costs specific to the construction of the applicable capital facility and shall not include any related design, administrative, or other costs not directly incurred for construction of the capital facility that are included in the impact fee as permitted by Section 9-463.05, Arizona Revised Statutes.

B. Earned Interest. A refund of an impact fee shall include any interest actually earned on the refunded portion of the impact fee by the City from the date of collection to the date of refund. All refunds shall be made to the record owner of the property at the time the refund is paid.

C. Refund to Government. If an impact fee was paid by a governmental entity, any refund shall be paid to that governmental entity.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-15

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

29-16 Oversight of impact fee program. +1

A. Annual Report. By September 30 following each fiscal year, the City shall file with the City Clerk an unaudited annual report accounting for the collection and use of the fees for each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area and shall post the report on its website in accordance with Sections 9-463.05(N) and (O), Arizona Revised Statutes, as amended.

B. Biennial Review. The City shall provide for a biennial, certified audit of the infrastructure financing plan, including the infrastructure improvements plan and land use assumptions, impact fee study, and impact fee schedules.

1. An audit pursuant to this subsection shall be conducted by one or more qualified professionals who are not employees or officials of the City and who did not prepare the infrastructure financing plan.
2. The audit shall review the collection and expenditures of development fees for each facility in the plan and provide written comments describing the amount of impact fees assessed, collected, and spent on capital facilities.
3. The audit shall describe the level of service in each ~~service~~ **IMPACT FEE** area, and evaluate any inequities in implementing the infrastructure improvements plan or imposing the impact fee.
4. The City shall post the findings of the audit on the City's public website and shall conduct a public hearing on the audit within 60 days of the release of the audit to the public.
5. For the purposes of this section, a certified audit shall mean any audit authenticated by one or more of the qualified professionals conducting the audit pursuant to subsection (B)(1) of this section.

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Section 29-16

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

Appx. A Impact fee schedules. +1

I. Impact Fee Schedules. Impact fees shall be assessed in accordance with the following fee schedules:

A. Fire Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factor. For example, a 100,000 square foot retail development has ~~7881~~ **7881** EDUs (100,000 sf/1,000 sf = 100; 100 x 0.7881 EDUs per unit = ~~7881~~ **7881** EDUs).
3. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
4. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offset stated in the table below. This result is the Total Offset.

5. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Fire Impact Fee.
6. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Fire Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule A: Fire Protection Impact Fees *2

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use	EDU Factor ¹	Unit
	Single-Family	1.00 per	Dwelling Unit
	Multi-Family	0.65 0.75 per	Dwelling Unit
	Commercial/Retail	0.78 0.81 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Office	0.71 0.64 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Industrial/Warehouse	0.28 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Public/Institutional	0.69 0.58 per	1,000 sq. ft.
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area	Gross Fee	Unit
	Northwest/Deer Valley	\$482 619 per	EDU
	Northeast	\$557 654 per	EDU
	Southwest	\$654 590 per	EDU
	Ahwatukee	\$551 573 per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount	Unit
	Debt Offset	\$38 83 per	EDU
	RMS OFFSET	\$20 PER	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.

B. Police Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factor. For example, a 100-unit multi-family project has ~~65~~75 EDUs (100 units x ~~0.65~~0.75 EDUs per unit = ~~65~~75 EDUs).
3. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
4. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offset stated in the table below. This result is the Total Offset.
5. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Police Impact Fee.
6. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Police Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule B: Police Impact Fees

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use	EDU Factor ¹		Unit
	Single-Family	1.00	per	Dwelling Unit
	Multi-Family	0.65 0.75	per	Dwelling Unit
	Commercial/Retail	0.78 0.81	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Office	0.71 0.64	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Industrial/Warehouse	0.28	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Public/Institutional	0.69 0.58	per	1,000 sq. ft.
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area	Gross Fee		Unit
	Northwest/ Deer Valley	\$500 338	per	EDU
	Northeast	\$546 359	per	EDU
	Southwest	\$529 330	per	EDU
	Ahwatukee	\$499 387	per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount		Unit
	Debt Offset	\$40 15	per	EDU
	RMS OFFSET	\$30	PER	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.

C. Parks Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factor. For example, a 100-unit multi-family project has ~~65~~75 EDUs (100 units x ~~0.65~~0.75 EDUs per unit = ~~65~~75 EDUs).
3. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
4. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offset stated in the table below. This result is the Total Offset.
5. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Parks Impact Fee.
6. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Parks Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule C: Parks Impact Fees

	Land Use	EDU Factor ¹		Unit
	Single-Family	1.00	per	Dwelling Unit

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Multi-Family	0.65 0.75 per	Dwelling Unit
	Commercial/Retail	0.05 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Office	0.07 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Industrial/Warehouse	0.02 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Public/Institutional	0.05 per	1,000 sq. ft.
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area	Gross Fee	Unit
	Northwest/Deer Valley	\$2,175 1,456 per	EDU
	Northeast	\$3,008 1,324 per	EDU
	Southwest	\$3,346 1,329 per	EDU
	Ahwatukee	\$1,758 1,313 per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount	Unit
	PPPI Sales Tax Offset	\$655 62 per	EDU
	Debt Offset	\$400 26 per	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.

D. Libraries Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factor. For example, a 100-unit multi-family project has ~~65~~75 EDUs (100 units x ~~0.65~~0.75 EDUs per unit = ~~65~~75 EDUs).
3. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
4. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offset stated in the table below. This result is the Total Offset.
5. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Libraries Impact Fee.
6. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Libraries Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule D: Libraries Impact Fees

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use	EDU Factor ¹	Unit
	Single-Family	1.00 per	Dwelling Unit
	Multi-Family	0.65 0.75 per	Dwelling Unit
	Commercial/Retail	0.05 per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Office	0.07 per	1,000 sq. ft.

	Industrial/Warehouse	0.02	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Public/Institutional	0.05	per	1,000 sq. ft.
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area	Gross Fee		Unit
	Northwest/ Deer Valley	\$0 105	per	EDU
	Northeast	\$315 105	per	EDU
	Southwest	\$195 105	per	EDU
	Ahwatukee	\$0 105	per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount		Unit
	Debt Offset N/A	\$830	per	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.

E. Major Arterials Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factor. For example, a 100,000 square foot office development has ~~63~~55 EDUs (100,000 sf/1,000 sf = 100; 100 x ~~0.63~~0.55 EDUs per unit = ~~63~~55 EDUs).
3. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
4. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offset stated in the table below. This result is the Total Offset.
5. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Major Arterials Impact Fee.
6. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Major Arterials Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule E: Major Arterials Impact Fees *2

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use	EDU Factor ¹		Unit
	Single-Family	1.00	per	Dwelling Unit
	Multi-Family	0.70 0.75	per	Dwelling Unit
	Commercial/Retail	1.37 1.22	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Lodging	0.41 0.35	per	Room
	Office	0.63 0.55	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Industrial/Warehouse	0.44 0.32	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Mini Warehouse	0.20 0.09	per	1,000 sq. ft.
	Public/Institutional	0.61 0.45	per	1,000 sq. ft.

Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area	Gross Fee	Unit
	Northwest/Deer Valley NORTHERN	\$2,553 3,080 per	EDU
	Northeast SOUTHERN	\$2,737 1,928 per	EDU
	Southwest	\$918 per	EDU
	Ahwatukee	\$0 per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount	Unit
	AHUR Offset N/A	\$1060 per	EDU
	Debt Offset	\$239 per	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.

F. Storm Drainage Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factor. For example, a 100-unit multi-family development on 20 net acres has 80 EDUs (20 net acres x 4.00 EDUs per acre = 80 EDUs).
3. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
4. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offset stated in the table below. This result is the Total Offset.
5. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Storm Drainage Impact Fee.
6. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Storm Drainage Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule F: Storm Drainage Impact Fees

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use	EDU Factor ¹	Unit
	Single-Family	1.00 per	Dwelling Unit
	All other uses	4.00 per	Net Acre
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area	Gross Fee	Unit
	PARADISE RIDGE	\$1,715 PER	EDU
	Estrella (North and South)	\$1,278 770 per	EDU
	Laveen (West and East)	\$1,277 1,037 per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount	Unit
	n/a	\$0 per	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.

G. Water Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. For residential developments, calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factors. For example, a 100-unit multi-family project with shared domestic meters and two 2" landscape meters has 60.6 EDUs (100 units x 0.38 EDUs per unit = 38 EDUs, plus two 2" meters @ 11.30 EDUs/meter = 22.6 EDUs).
3. For non-residential developments:
 - a. Identify the number, size, and types of meters required for the development.
 - b. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by totaling the number of EDUs associated for each type of meter. For example, a restaurant which has a 2" compound meter for commercial use, and a 1" landscape meter, has 14.84 EDUs (11.30 EDUs for 2" meter plus 3.54 EDUs for 1" meter).
4. Multiply the number of total EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
5. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offsets stated in the table below. Where Development Occupational Fees have been charged, include that amount in the offset calculations. This result is the Total Offset.
6. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Water Impact Fee.
7. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Water Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule G: Water Impact Fees

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use		EDU Factor ¹		Unit
	Multi-Family, sharing common meter(s)		0.38	per	Dwelling Unit
	Multi-Family, individually metered		1.00	per	Dwelling Unit
	Single-Family, up to 1" meter		1.00	per	Dwelling Unit
	Single-Family, 1.5" meter		3.33	per	Dwelling Unit
	Single-Family, 2" meter		5.33	per	Dwelling Unit
	All Other Land Uses and/or Additional Meters	Meter Size			
		0.75"	2.12	per	Meter
		1"	3.54	per	Meter
		1.5"	7.06	per	Meter
		2" Compound or Displacement	11.30	per	Meter
		2" Turbine	13.42	per	Meter

		3" Compound	24.74	per	Meter
		3" Turbine	30.74	per	Meter
		4" Compound	42.40	per	Meter
		4" Turbine	53.00	per	Meter
		6" Compound	95.40	per	Meter
		6" Turbine	113.06	per	Meter
		8" Compound	113.06	per	Meter
		8" Turbine	197.86	per	Meter
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area		Gross Fee		Unit
	Northern (Northwest, Deer Valley, and Northeast)		\$7,016,621 per		EDU
	Southern (Estrella North and South, Laveen West and East, and Ahwatukee)		\$4,580,307 per		EDU
Offsets	Offset Type		Offset Amount		Unit
	Water Rate Offset		\$481,691 per		EDU
	Development Occupational Fees ²		Variable per		EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.
2. Development Occupational Fees, which are variable depending on the type of development, are included in the calculation of the Total Offset when they are charged to the same Subject Development.

H. Wastewater Impact Fee.

1. In the table below, find the Land Use type which applies to the Subject Development for which the Impact Fee is being calculated.
2. For residential developments, calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by using the associated EDU Factors. For example, a 100-unit multi-family project with shared domestic meters and two 2" landscape meters has 49 EDUs (100 units x 0.49 EDUs per unit = 49 EDUs). No EDUs are assigned to the landscape meters since landscape meters are not assessed Wastewater Impact Fees per Section 29-11(C).
3. For non-residential developments:
 - a. Identify the number, size, and types of meters required for the development.
 - b. Calculate the number of total Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs) for the project by totaling the number of EDUs associated for each type of meter. For example, a restaurant which has a 2" compound meter for commercial use, and a 1" landscape meter, has 11.99 EDUs (11.99 EDUs for 2" meter plus 0 EDUs for landscape meter).
4. Multiply the number of total EDUs by the associated Gross Impact Fee for the applicable Service Area stated in the table below. This result is the Total Gross Impact Fee.
5. Multiply the number of EDUs by the associated Offsets stated in the table below. Where Development Occupational Fees have been charged, include that amount in the offset calculations. This result is the Total Offset.

6. Subtract the Total Offset from the Total Gross Impact Fee. This result will be assessed as the Net Wastewater Impact Fee.
7. Credits, if applicable, may be applied to the Net Wastewater Impact Fee using the EDU factor(s) stated below, as further detailed in Section 29-12.

Schedule H: Wastewater Impact Fees

Equivalent Demand Units (EDUs)	Land Use		EDU Factor ¹	Unit
	Multi-Family, sharing common meter(s)		0.49 per	Dwelling Unit
	Multi-Family, individually metered		1.00 per	Dwelling Unit
	Single-Family, up to 1" meter		1.00 per	Dwelling Unit
	Single-Family, 1.5" meter		3.33 per	Dwelling Unit
	Single-Family, 2" meter		5.33 per	Dwelling Unit
	All Other Land Uses and/or Additional Meters	Meter Size		
		0.75"	2.25 per	Meter
		1"	3.76 per	Meter
		1.5"	7.49 per	Meter
		2" Compound or Displacement	11.99 per	Meter
		2" Turbine	14.24 per	Meter
		3" Compound	26.26 per	Meter
		3" Turbine	32.63 per	Meter
		4" Compound	45.00 per	Meter
		4" Turbine	56.25 per	Meter
		6" Compound	101.25 per	Meter
		6" Turbine	119.99 per	Meter
		8" Compound	119.99 per	Meter
		8" Turbine	209.99 per	Meter
Gross Impact Fees	Impact Fee Service Area		Gross Fee	Unit
	Northwest NORTHERN - WW		\$4,012 24,190 per	EDU
	Northeast		\$4,012 per	EDU
	Deer Valley		\$2,103 2,267 per	EDU
	Estrella North		\$2,103 2,267 per	EDU
	Estrella South		\$3,984 4,674 per	EDU
	Laveen West		\$3,829 4,517 per	EDU

	Laveen East	\$2,103 2,267 per	EDU
	Ahwatukee	\$2,103 2,267 per	EDU
Offsets	Offset Type	Offset Amount	Unit
	Wastewater Revenue RATE Offset	\$282 287 per	EDU
	Development Occupational Fees ²	Variable per	EDU

1. At the option of the applicant or at the direction of the Planning and Development Director, the EDU Factor used to calculate the fee may be determined by an independent impact analysis, pursuant to the provisions of Section III of this Appendix.
2. Development Occupational Fees, which are variable depending on the type of development, are included in the calculation of the Total Offset when they are charged to the same Subject Development.

~~H.—Independent Impact Analysis. At the option of the applicant or the Planning and Development Director, the total number of EDUs, or the EDU factor, used to calculate impact fees for a Subject Development may be determined by an Independent Impact Analysis if the type of proposed use is not within or comparable to the land use types stated in the Fee Schedules provided in this Appendix. If this option is chosen, the following shall apply:~~

~~A.—The applicant shall be responsible for preparing the Independent Impact Analysis, which shall be reviewed for approval by the Planning and Development Director prior to payment of the impact fee(s) to which the analysis applies.~~

~~B.—An Independent Impact Analysis shall measure and discuss the impact the Subject Development will have on the Necessary Public Service(s) included in the Infrastructure Financing Plan, and shall be based on the same methodologies used in the calculation of the Gross Cost per EDU in the Infrastructure Improvements Plan.~~

~~C.—An Independent Impact Analysis shall utilize only professionally acceptable data, assumptions, and evaluation methods.~~

~~D.—After review of the Independent Impact Analysis submitted by the applicant, the Planning and Development Director shall accept or reject the analysis and provide written notice to the applicant of the decision. If an independent impact analysis is rejected, the written notice shall provide an explanation of the insufficiencies of the analysis.~~

~~E.—The decision of the Planning and Development Director may be appealed pursuant to Section 29-14(D).~~

Date of Addition/Revision/Deletion - Appx. A

+1 Addition on 1-21-2015 by Ordinance No. G-5984, eff. 2-20-2015

*2 Revision on 6-22-2016 by Ordinance No. G-6180, eff. 7-22-2016